
 1 

GOVERNOR'S COUNCIL ON DISABILITIES AND SPECIAL 
EDUCATION 

 
Executive Committee Meeting 

 
LOCATION 

Governor's Council Conference Room 
3601 C Street 

Anchorage, Alaska 
Teleconference 

 
 

Meeting Date 
January 12, 2010 

 
 
 

Attendees: 
 

Eric Gebhart 
Kathy Fitzgerald 
Chris Saddler 
Debbie Kitelinger 
Travis Noah 

 
Staff: 
 

Millie Ryan, Executive Director 
Duane Mayes 
Teresa Holt 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by:   Paula DiPaolo 
       Peninsula Reporting 
 
 



 2 

Call to Order – 2:10 p.m. 
Roll Call 
 
INTRODUCTIONS, ANNOUNCEMENTS OR GOOD NEWS 
 
Millie Ryan stated that Jennifer Jones has been hired to work on their 
action plan to increase the number of people with developmental 
disabilities who receive supported employment services. 
 
APPROVE THE AGENDA 
 
Kathy Fitzgerald made a MOTION to approve the agenda.  Chris Saddler 
SECONDED.  The agenda was APPROVED. 
 
APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM THE PAST MEETING 
 
Chris Saddler made a MOTION to approve the minutes from the previous 
meeting.  Kathy Fitzgerald SECONDED.  The meeting minutes were 
APPROVED. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
Millie Ryan stated that they completed their annual Program Performance 
Report. 
 
REPORTS 
 
Chair’s Report  
 
Donna Swihart was not available for the meeting and a chair’s report was 
not given at this time. 
 
Committee Reports: 
 
Early Intervention Committee 
 
Teresa Holt stated that they reviewed the indicator on infant learning family 
involvement.  She stated that the survey is very scientific and it came back 
pretty good with 80 to 90 percent of parents responding that they feel like 
they know what they are supposed to do. 
 



 3 

Teresa stated that they discussed the OSEP Conference and noted that 
every discussion centered on states deciding not to have infant learning 
programs due to lack of funding.  She stated that most of the programs had 
used the ARRA money to supplant services instead of closing programs, 
and legislators are telling them they need to cut funding somewhere.  Millie 
Ryan also noted that Alaska’s Infant Learning Programs received the same 
amount of money and did not receive a cut in funding as was previously 
thought. 
 
Teresa Holt stated that their next big task is to review the Annual 
Performance Report and provide comments. 
 
DD Committee 
 
Kathy Fitzgerald stated that they did not have their regular DD Committee 
meeting and instead met jointly with the Legislative Committee to look at 
the crisis response money.  They discussed strategies that they needed to 
do and how this is all interrelated to the WICHE recommendations and the 
second RFP that the Trust and the State put out to WICHE to now call 
together a larger group of stakeholders.  This should provide a much 
broader representation of providers, families, the Council and their sister 
boards.  She also stated that the group decided that they can’t wait for the 
WICHE recommendations to come out, but that they need to move forward 
during this legislative session on the increment request. 
 
Kathy Fitzgerald directed the Executive Committee to WICHE’s preliminary 
report which should be posted on SDS’s website and encouraged people to 
read the two pages that lay out the recommendations.  Kathy stated that 
one of those recommendations is for an ICF/MR in Alaska, which the 
Council is strongly opposed to.  Millie Ryan stated that the Bring the Kids 
Home data shows that there are about 118 children out of state and 
approximately 50 of those are people identified as having autism, FAS, 
FASD and other developmental disabilities.  She stated that they may want 
to look at getting the autism ad hoc committee to look at what they can do 
for these children by using the resources that are available through Bring 
the Kids Home and SDS. 
 
Legislative Committee 
 
Travis Noah stated that the Legislative Committee discussed where they 
are at with the position papers.  They also discussed SB 109 and SB 32 



 4 

and their allies and opponents.  They also discussed what they can do to 
help the Key Coalition further those two initiatives. 
 
Travis stated that their meetings have been very productive and he is 
pleased with the results. 
 
Education Committee 
 
Teresa Holt stated that they are following the Governor’s scholarship 
program and stated that she listened to the legislative hearing and the 
expert who was brought in that asked them to identify whether they are 
looking at an incentive for good students, a program for students who 
couldn’t afford college, or some combination of both.  She stated that right 
now, there is not enough detail to give the commissioner any feedback on 
how it will affect students with disabilities. 
 
Teresa stated that they are working on ASSEC and getting the inclusive 
practice awards nominations. 
 
Teresa Holt stated that she spent some time with the graduation committee 
that is put together by the Department of Education.  They were talking 
about the exit exam and the Department’s view and what they were going 
to do.  During their discussion, there were about 15 to 20 reasons given for 
why there should be no exit exam.  The only reason people were for having 
it is the accountability.  They took an informal vote and it was about 13 to 8 
in support of getting rid of the exit exam.  Teresa stated that a university 
representative stated that they do not value the exit exam and it has no 
relevance for them, but they would be interested in knowing people’s 
WorkKeys scores. 
 
Teresa Holt stated that the WorkKeys program is nationally recognized, but 
there are some implementation issues because their system only allows 30 
students to do it at a time before it crashes the system. 
 
Chris Saddler suggested using the exit exam as a measurement tool, but 
remove it as a requirement for graduation.  Eric Gebhart stated that there is 
a 10th grade measurement tool in place with the standards-based 
assessments.  Teresa Holt also clarified that SB 109 does not get rid of the 
10th grade exam; it just gets rid of the requirement to pass to get a diploma.  
Millie Ryan stated that maybe they need to update their talking points to 
stress that they believe in accountability and also believe that students 



 5 

should get a diploma if they complete their high school courses to a 
satisfactory degree. 
 
Rural Ad Hoc Committee 
 
Duane Mayes stated that they had a meeting with GCI to look at their video 
conferencing equipment.  They had a meeting with Kim Hess from Ukpik 
who gave a presentation on their video conferencing and communications 
system.  They also went over to the Anchorage IDEA office and got a 
demonstration on the video conferencing equipment they use for distance 
education. 
 
Duane stated that he has heard that TCC has applied for and gotten a $28 
million RUS grant.  He’s trying to reach Jim Williams to confirm that 
information. 
 
Duane stated that Lisa Balivet at OCS and TCC would like to do a pilot 
project working with the Deltana Community Coalition in Delta Junction to 
use video conferencing equipment to do OT/PT and speech with children 
that have significant disabilities.  Millie Ryan reminded the group that the 
Trust paid for a similar project to provide ILP services about 10 years ago, 
and they may be able to find the results of that project. 
 
Autism Ad Hoc Committee 
 
Millie Ryan stated that the Autism Ad Hoc Committee has not met, but 
there is another group, the Autism Alliance Group, which is looking at the 
Combating Autism grant. 
 
Millie stated that there will be a state team going to an autism summit in 
Seattle in February.  It will be focused on early intervention for children birth 
to 5.  She stated that this will be an opportunity to look at their plan and see 
where they need to go in terms of the five-part autism initiative.  Kathy 
Fitzgerald stated that in addition to recognizing the importance of early 
intervention, they need to address adults and transition-aged individuals 
with autism. 
 
Executive Director’s Report 
 
Millie Ryan stated that she is meeting with Karen Ward to look at putting a 
budget together for crisis response and also putting some talking points 
together. 



 6 

 
Millie stated that she will be meeting with Bill Hogan to discuss the fact that 
the boards are unhappy with being located within the Division of Senior and 
Disability Services or the Division of Behavioral Health.  They will be 
meeting to discuss moving back to Boards and Commissions. 
 
Millie Ryan stated that she and Rich have met with the external evaluators 
on contract from the Office of Disability Employment Policy to look at the 
START-Up Alaska program.  She stated that she thinks it will be a good 
review. 
 
Millie stated that they have a meeting in Juneau on February 18th.  It is a 
policy summit to see what sorts of things they can get solidified to sustain 
their self-employment program when the federal grant funding ends. 
 
Millie concluded her report by stating that she will be out next week helping 
her mom move and will be available by phone and e-mail. 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
January 2010 Council Meeting 
 
Millie Ryan briefly discussed the activities of the January 2010 full Council 
meeting. 
 
May 2010 Council Meeting 
 
Millie Ryan explained to the Executive Committee that having the full 
Council meeting in either Cordova or Homer in May would be too costly as 
all Council members and staff would need to travel to either of those 
communities.  She recommended that the Council meet in Fairbanks for 
the May meeting.   
 
Kathy Fitzgerald made a MOTION to hold the May 2010 Council meeting in 
Fairbanks.  Debbie Kitelinger SECONDED.  The motion was APPROVED. 
 
Other Old Business 
 
Millie Ryan stated that the top four priorities for the Council during this 
legislative session will be:  Crisis response, HB 187, SB 109 and SB 32.  
The Council will also support the Trust joint priorities, but the main focus 
will be the top four priorities. 



 7 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
MTARS 
 
Millie Ryan stated referred the Executive Committee to her notes regarding 
the recommendations from the MTARS review.  She stated that they 
should receive the official report in writing from them within a few months.  
Millie noted that at the next Executive Committee meeting, they should put 
this on the agenda to do a closer review and next steps.  She stated that 
overall, the review was positive with only a few areas that the Council could 
make some changes in, some being formal training for chairs and officers 
as well as the formation of a self-advocacy organization. 
 
 
TIME AND DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
The next meeting is scheduled for February 9, 2010 at 2:00 p.m. 
 
ADJOURN 
 
The Executive Committee meeting was adjourned at 3:20 p.m. 


